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Contributing Buildings and Structures

Tanner's Mill is a rural industrial complex located approximately three 
miles northeast of the intersection of Georgia Highways 53 and 211 in Hall 
County. Situated on Walnut Creek, a fork of the Middle Oconee River, the com­ 
plex is no longer operational, and extensive repairs would be necessary to 
put the mill site in operating condition.

The Tanner's Mill complex consists of a grist and flour mill, a cotton 
gin, the ruins of a textile mill, a dam with Watergate and raceway, a mill- 
pond, an iron truss bridge, an owner's house with a barn and several outbuild­ 
ings, a miller's house, and a storage building. The complex was largely de- 
veldped between the mid- and latk-niiieteentli' ceiitiury;

The largest and most impressive structure in the industrial complex is 
the three-story grist and flour mill, which dates from ca. 1886. It is an 
unpainted, clapboard building constructed of pine which was sawed on the site. 
The grist mill is without architectural ornamentation. On the north and south 
facades of the mill are connecting one-story sheds of grooved weatherboard. 
The sheds are later additions, since they are supported by concrete of local 
fieldstone rubble. Corrugated tin forms the steeply sloping roof of the cen­ 
tral portion of the mill as well as the more moderately sloping roofs of the 
sheds t . The north and south facades are nearly identical, and are marked by 
their weatherboard siding and nine-over-nine winddwsl" Two nine-bver-nine 
windows light either side of the second story, while a series of three nine- 
over-nine windows allow light to enter"the'first-story sheds. Tlie west facade, 
accessible by way of the gravel road, has a corrugated tin shed r roof.which pro­ 
tects tiie service entrance into the mill. Flanking this doorway are single 
nine-over-nine windows. Above the shed roof are two six-over-six windows, and 
a centrally placed nine-over-nine window lights the mill's third floor. Fram­ 
ing this window are the steep gable and its returns. Architecturally, the 
second and third stories of the east facade are identical to those on the wes­ 
tern face. The first floor necessarily differs because of purpose. There, a 
breast shot waterwheel is attached to the mill. The wheel is over twenty feet 
in diameter, and it has five-foot-wide metal floats. Over the years, the 
wooden spokes of the wheel have rotted, and consequently, operation of the 
wheel would be dangerous. Originally, a wooden-trough raceway connected the 
mill with the dam and channeled water to feed the wheel. During the past 
thirty years, segments of the wooden-trough raceway were replaced so that it 
no longer exists. Today, leading from the mill to the cotton gin is an iron- 
and-steel.penstock which is supported by masonry and concrete block. The mid­ 
dle segment of the raceway is now a large steel pipe, and it connects to an 
iron pipe which was originally used as a smokestack at a local factory.
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Historical Significance
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Tanner's Mill is historically significant; in the areas .of
engineering, industry, and commerce as a fine and rare surviving example of 
the integrated rural industrial complexes that once played a prominent role 
in the history of Georgia from the early-nineteenth century through the early- 
twentieth century. Tanner's Mill is an architectural and technological record 
of the history of nineteenth- and early-twentieth-century rural industry in 
Georgia, and is important as well for the role it played in the social and 
economic life of Hall and neighboring counties.

Like many of the rural industrial complexes in Georgia, Tanner's Mill 
includes a combined grist and flour mill and a dam, millpond, Watergate, and 
raceway. Dating fro$ 1886 ? the architecture,of, this rm£ll r:- a ,weat;herboar4ed, 
wood-framed, gable-roofed building with shed additions set on fieldstone- 
masonry piers —.is representative of nineteenth-century riiral mill architec­ 
ture in Georgia and is virtually intact. The construction of the waterworks, 
while less intact due to the ravages of floods, nevertheless illustrates nine­ 
teenth-century rural hydraulic engineering.

Although typical in its design and construction, the grist and flour mill 
is unusual in that much of its late-nineteenth-century milling equipment is 
still in place. This equipment includes two runs of stones (one domestic gran­ 
ite, the other European quartzite), a corn-shucker, several sifters, a duster, 
a packer, and several enclosed elevators. The pulleys, belts, shafts and gears 
of the power-distribution machinery are also present. The breastshot water- 
wheel on the east side of the mill, although no longer operational, is one of 
a few of its kind remaining in Georgia. This milling equipment operated regu­ 
larly until 1961.

At its peak in the late-nineteenth, and-early-twentieth centuries, the 
grist and flour mill ground more than 12,000 bushels of product per year. Two 
millers were employed to supervise this production. Products such as Tanner's
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Inside the mill, an elevator moved the grist between the mill's floors. 
This elevator consists of funnel-shaped cups attached to a belt which raised 
or lowered the grist. The device is encased in a wooden box and is driven by 
pulleys and belts. The first floor contains the gasoline-engine mill, as 
well as two sets of ferreled millstones. One set, of local granite, was used 
to grind corn, while a set of European quartzite stones ground wheat. Also 
located on this floor is a com-shucker. On the second floor is a swing sif­ 
ter which filters the grist. A sieve again sifted the grist on the third 
floor. Also on the third floor is a bran-duster, type #1, which filtered the 
grist for a final time. After this, the elevator carried the grain back to 
the first floor, where it was packed. The equipment in the mill was patented 
by the B. Nordyke and Marmon Company of Indianapolis in 1897 and manufactured 
by that firm in 1907. It replaced earlier equipment located within the mill.

Forty yards above the grist mill is a two-story, overlapping-weather- 
boarded cotton gin. Like the mill, it has no architectural detail. Once con­ 
nected to the building was an overshot waterwheel which powered a hand-fed 
gin. Engineering history places the development of the overshot waterwheel 
before that of the beastshot wheel, indicating that the gin antedated the 
mill, perhaps as much as four decades. The gin is in a general state of dis­ 
repair and has not been used since operated in a 1958 demonstration.

Upstream from the grist mill and cotton gin are "foundation" columns 
which once supported the Walnut Factory. A wool-carding and spinning mill, 
the Walnut Factory operated from 1835 to 1870. Other than the columns, lit­ 
tle remains of this facility. Since the exact nature of the "foundation" 
columns is not known, the precise location of this factory is uncertain.

Fifty yeards upstream from the cotton gin is a dam which runs sixty feet 
across the rock-bottomed Walnut Creek. The dam is constructed of wood. Al­ 
though there are several leaks in the dam, the wooden braces are in good con­ 
dition, and, with repair, the dam could be made to function efficiently. The 
Watergate at the west end of the dam was originally of stone masonry, but con­ 
crete blocks support the gate today. This gate channels the water into the 
iron pipe, which then directs it to the two wheels.

Below the grist mill, a forty-foot-long bridge spans Walnut Creek. The 
bridge is a single-span riveted Warren pony truss with wood decking. It was 
built by the Tanner family in 1914. No bridge plate was found.

[continued]
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One hundred and fifty yards below the iron truss bridge is the Tanner 
house. Built in the mid-nineteenth century, and perhaps as early as the 
1830s, the Tanner house is one and a half stories high, one-room deep, and 
three bays wide, with a gable roof. The front facade is symmetric around a 
trabeated, side-lighted front doorway. An exterior end chimney of massive 
granite blocks rises at the north end of the house. Originally built on 
lower ground along Walnut Creek, the Tanner house was moved to higher ground 
nearby in the early-twentieth century (probably 1918) to lessen the danger of 
flooding. Since then, the house has been remodeled; front windows have been 
doubled, asbestos siding overlaid, and the south chimney removed. A recent 
addition in a contemporary style has been made to the south side of the house,

Associated with the Tanner house is a large, two-story, gable-roofed 
barn. The barn is framed with heavy timbers and surfaced with weatherboards. 
It has numerous doors and windows of various sizes. The barn is located 
slightly uphill to the northeast of the house. There are several smaller, 
wood-framed agricultural outbuildings around the house and barn; two of these 
are located in the vicinity of the original location of the Tanner house.

Eighty yards northeast of the mill complex is the miller's house. This 
house is situated among large deciduous trees on a rise of ground at the edge 
of a field. The house itself is small, one and a half stories high, with a 
gable roof that slopes into a shed roof in the rear. A one-story shed room 
has been added to the front of the house. The front door opens onto a simple 
wooden deck, possibly the remains of a shed porch. The house is built of 
frame construction surfaced with severely weathered clapboards and rests on 
crude stone piers.

Non-contributing Buildings and Structures

One non-contributing building is present at Tanner's Mill: a mid-twenti­ 
eth-century storage building. This storage building is located south of the 
mill and west of the bridge at a corner in the road. It is a one-story, wood- 
framed building with a low gable roof and board-and-batten siding.

[continued]
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Tanner's Mill is archaeologically unknown. However, there are indica­ 
tions of archaeological resources in the area. As mentioned above, upstream 
from the extant industrial complex are remnants of the foundations of the 
Walnut Factory. The present 1886 grist mill replaced an earlier one on the 
same site about which little is known. Details of George Lumpkin's develop­ 
ment prior to David Tanner's 1833 purchase are scanty. The Tanner house was 
moved in the early-twentieth century, and its original location on the prop­ 
erty is known. Also, often associated with such industrial complexes are the 
residences of employers and employees; while the Tanner house and the miller's 
house have survived, there are no other structural remains of such a community, 
Although the archaeology of Tanner's Mill has not been investigated, archaeo­ 
logical potential is inferred from the site and its historical documentation.

Boundaries

Boundaries for Tanner's Mill are drawn to include all the important 
buildings and structures: the grist and flour mill, the cotton gin, the site 
of the Walnut Factory, the dam with its Watergate and raceway, the mill pond, 
the truss bridge, the Tanner house, and the miller's house. The boundaries 
also include enough land around the complex to illustrate its rural setting. 
As a convenience, the boundaries have been adjusted to correspond with the 
legal boundaries of the property northwest of Tanner's Mill Road (State Route 
211). These legal boundaries have apparently been intact since 1882. No re­ 
sources, known or inferred, are believed to exist on the southeast side of 
Tanner's Mill Road.

Photographs of Machinery

Machinery and equipment at Tanner's Mill have been described above. At 
the owner's request, photographs of this machinery and equipment were not 
taken.
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Mill Corn Meal were sold throughout Hall and neighboring counties; by implica­ 
tion, raw material for the mill was drawn from the same market. Because of 
its capacity and diversity, Tanner's Mill became a center for local commerce 
in this area.

Even more unusual than the milling equipment and the breastshot water- 
wheel is the cotton gin at Tanner's Mill. Built during the 1830s, this cotton 
gin is one of a very few waterpowered gin mills surviving in Georgia. It oper­ 
ated off an overshot waterwheel (now disconnected) with water from the raceway 
shared with the grist and corn mill. The cotton-gin building is now decaying, 
and the extent and condition of the ginning equipment has not been appraised. 
The cotton gin was last operated during a demonstration in 1958.

Ruins, mostly subsurface, are all that is left of a small textile factory 
known as the Walnut Factory at Tanner's Mill. Between 1835 and 1870, wool was 
carded and spun into yarn at this facility. During the Civil War, it produced 
material for the Confederate armies. Little is known about its architecture 
and equipment. A contemporary of the grist and flour mill and the cotton gin, 
the Walnut Factory represents further diversification of industry and trade at 
Tanner's Mill.

The bridge at Tanner's Mill is significant in terms of its engineering 
and for the desperate commercial venture it represents. A single-span, riv­ 
eted, Warren pony truss with wood decking, it is a good example of early-twen­ 
tieth-century bridges in rural Georgia. Built by the Tanner family in 1914, 
the bridge was an attempt to meet the regional competition of larger consoli­ 
dated mills in Gainesville by accommodating the increasingly heavy automobile 
and truck traffic. The attempt was largely futile, and Tanner's Mill was des­ 
tined to serve a steadily shrinking local market in the twentieth century.

Complementing the industrial buildings at Tanner's Mill are two resi­ 
dences. The Tanner house, a variation of the plain-style Georgia farmhouse, 
was built by mill owner David Tanner in the mid-nineteenth century, perhaps 
as early as the 1830s, and was occupied by mill owners into the twentieth cen­ 
tury. Although remodeled in the twentieth century, the original part of the 
house retains its identity through its overall proportions and some of its 
detailing, including a fine chimney; although moved a short distance uphill 
to escape the danger of flooding, the house at its current location effec­ 
tively illustrates the relationship between a rural mill and its owner's resi-

[ continued]
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dence. Associated with this house are a large barn and several smaller out­ 
buildings, providing mute testimony to the agricultural imperatives of rural 
life in nineteenth- century Georgia. The miller's house, built nearby in 1895, 
is a much more modest dwelling, although typical of its type. It illustrates 
the relationship between a rural mill and the residence of its foreman. To­ 
gether, the Tanner house and the miller's house suggest the development of a 

village in the vicinity, of which no other traces are known to exist."

Archaeological Significance

Archaeologically, the few hints supplied by the Walnut Factory remains 
and the historical sources suggest that the Tanner's Mill complex may be more 
elaborate than the surviving structures indicate. Indeed, a small community 
may have existed in the vicinity. Archaeological investigation of the Walnut 
Factory site and the inferred mill village would add to our knowledge about 
the development and decline of these seemingly simple rural industrial commun 
ities. Similar investigation of the mill site itself would provide informa­ 
tion about earlier or destroyed structures on the site. Investigation of the 
original site of the Tanner house would supply information about its original 
situation. If a full understanding of the development and decline of rural 
industrial complexes such as Tanner's Mill is desired, then all of the re­ 
source potential — inferred as well as observed — must be recognized.

Historical Narrative

Tanner's Mill is located on a portion of land deeded to Zachariah Coxe in 
the late-eighteenth century. George Lumpkin purchased some 670 acres of this 
property and established the first grist and saw mills here by the early-nine­ 
teenth century. In 1833, David Tanner bought the property. During the 1830s, 
he built the cotton gin and the Walnut Factory; he undoubtedly made improve­ 
ments to the waterworks, and he may have built the Tanner house during this 
decade as well. In 1886, Moses T. Tanner, one of David's nine children, re­ 
placed the earlier grist mill with the combination grist and flour mill pres­ 
ently located on the site; he also equipped it with the breast shot waterwheel. 
In 1895, he built the miller's house. At the turn of the century, most, if 
not all, of the equipment inside the mill was replaced. In 1914, the truss

[continued]
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bridge was erected. In 1918, the Tanner house was moved uphill to lessen the 
danger of flooding. The Tanner family continued to own and operate the indus­ 
try until 1955, when the property was sold to J.V. (Buck) Jones. The cotton 
gin was last used in a demonstration run in 1958. In the winter of 1961, a 
flood damaged the dam and weakened the raceway; the mill has not operated 
since then. In recent years, additions have been made to the south side of 
the Tanner house, and a storage building was built near the mill. At some 
time, the original wooden-trough raceway was largely replaced by a steel-and- 
masonry penstock. Floods continue to inflict damage on the dam, Watergate, 
and raceway.
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